# Stress at Work



by Tarani Chandola

# STRESS AT WORK

#### A REPORT PREPARED FOR The British Academy

by Professor Tarani Chandola

Steering Group: Professor Duncan Gallie, FBA Professor Paul Edwards, FBA Dr Kathy Parkes



With special thanks to: Professor Lizzie Barmes, Queen Mary, University of London and Professor John Sloboda, FBA, University of Keele.

#### THE BR ITISH ACADEMY

10-11 Carlton House Terrace London SW1Y 5AH Web site: www.britac.ac.uk

Registered Charity: Number 233176 ©The British Academy 2010

First published October 2010

ISBN 978-0-85672-589-0

Typeset by SoapBox www.soapboxcommunications.co.uk Printed by Repropoint

# CONTENTS

	List of figures and tables	7	
	Foreword		
	Key messages		
	Summary		
	Work stress and the 2008–09 recession	19	
	Trends in work stress	19	
	The costs of work stress	20	
	Reducing work stress	21	
1.	Introduction	25	
	1.1.The 2008–09 recession	25	
	1.2. Models of work stress	26	
2.	Determinants of work stress	31	
	2.1. Unemployment, unstable labour markets and job insecurity	31	
	2.2. New forms of employment contract	35	
	2.3. Work i ntensification	36	
	2.4. Violence and inter-personal conflict at work	38	
	2.5. Occupational determinants of work stress	40	
	2.6. Work–family conflict, work–life balance and		
	flexible working arrangements	43	
3.	How big is the problem of work stress in Britain?	47	
	3.1. Time-series trends on work stress	47	
	3.2. Cross-national comparisons	50	
4.	The costs of work stress	53	
	4.1. Work stress and health	53	
	4.1.1. Work stress and risk of cardiovascular disease	53	
	4.1.2. Work stress and common mental disorders/		
	depression/suicide	54	
	4.1.3. Work stress and accidents/injuries	56	
	4.1.4. Work stress, sickness absence and presenteeism	57	
	4.2. The economic costs of work stress	60	

4.2.1. Costs to society	60
4.2.2. Costs to employers	63
5. Reducing work stress	67
5.1. Person-focused interventions	68
5.2. Workplace-focused interventions	69
5.3. Work stress and the law	71
6. Concluding remarks	77
6.1. Future priority areas	77
6.2. Overall conclusions	78
7. References	83
About the author and Steering Group	97
British Academy policy publications	100

# LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

e	Trends in unemployment rates and the percentage ary employees who cannot find a permanent job	of 32
-	Percentage of employees who think they are likely ely to lose their job, by private and public sector	./ 33
hours h	Percentage of employees reporting their work ave increased in the last three months, by private lic sector	34
they are	Trends in the percentage of employees reporting under excessive pressure several days of the ad have too high a workload: spring 2009 to 2010	37
-	Percentage of employees reporting an increase -personal conflict at work, by private and public	39
e	Percentage of employees reporting an increase in 5 by managers, by private and public sector	40
e	Job demands and control, by sector (adapted from rth European Working conditions survey report)	41
e	The occupational gradient in job strain in the all II study	42
they are their or	Trends in the percentage of employees reporting not satisfied with their work–life balance and that ganisation does not help support their work–life spring 2009 to spring 2010	45
e	Percentage of employees in British Skills Survey igh-strain" jobs, 1992–2006	49
e	Job demands and control, by country, from the European Working Conditions Survey	51
-	Trends in male job insecurity and UK male suicid d 15–44	e 56

to indi	Cost categories that constitute the economic cos viduals, employers and society of workplace accide ork related ill health	
0	Costs to Britain of workplace accidents and work ill health, 2001/02	к- 63
Figure 15	Choosing a target for work stress intervention	67
Table 1	Systematic reviews of the association of work stre	ess
with he	eart disease	54
	List of longitudinal studies in the PubMed databa k stress and sickness absence (relative risks were ed using rate or odds ratios)	ase 59

## FOREWORD

Over recent decades there has been rising concern in many countries about the growth and consequences of work stress. From the 1980s Scandinavian countries introduced major policy interventions to reduce psycho-social risks at work and from the late 1990s the issue became increasingly central to the agenda of the European Union. In 2004 the European social partners signed a framework agreement to encourage stronger monitoring of stress levels and improvements in work organization to reduce stress risks. In a number of countries this led to national agreements between employers and unions, to more detailed industry-level negotiations in Denmark, the Netherlands and Sweden and in some cases to changes in labour law. In France, all companies with more than 1,000 employees have been obliged to start negotiations on how to reduce work stress. Such developments, however, have been notably absent in the UK

The evidence of a marked growth in work stress emerged in a period of relative prosperity. However it is the potential implications for work stress of the recent economic crisis that led the British Academy to commission an overview of the current state of research. In a period when large numbers of employees are likely to see major changes in the nature and security of their jobs, it is important to ask what we have learned from research over the last two decades about the sources of work stress, its human and economic costs, and possible ways of reducing it.

Tarani Chandola's report makes it clear that there is now very consistent evidence that work stress has severe implications for employee health. It not only increases anxiety and depression but it leads to an estimated 50% increase in the risk of heart disease. At the same time it has significant economic consequences, partly through the costs to employers of sickness absence, and partly through the costs to wider society of treating the ill health it produces.

The report argues that the effects of the recession and its aftermath could well aggravate factors that have been found to be major work stressors. Indeed there is already evidence that they are doing so. Centrally important for work stress are reductions in job security and increases in the level of work pressure. The scenario for the coming years is likely to be one of marked reductions in the workforce, particularly in the public sector which has previously known high job security. Reductions in staffing are likely to lead to increases in work pressure as organisations try to maintain or even increase levels of activity with fewer employees.

Although increased insecurity may be inherent in the process of workforce restructuring, research points to some factors that may give employers scope to reduce work stress even in times of economic difficulty. There is considerable evidence that the level of control that employees can exercise over their work and the supportiveness of the work environment can help mediate the negative effects of work pressure for psychological well-being. Research has highlighted the importance of the rewards (not necessarily monetary) given for work effort. It has also shown that stress is reduced where employers provide good information about proposed organisational change and where the procedures for taking decisions are seen to be fair. It has found that an important condition for a work environment that reduces risks to employees' health is that there are opportunities for employee representation in the workplace. As companies restructure their workforces, they should build on this knowledge to ensure that the potential risks of change are offset, as far as possible, by improvements in job design, careful thought about forms of support and higher levels of employee involvement.

The UK has tended to adopt a relatively non-interventionist approach to the problem of work stress. It has relied particularly

on trying to influence employers by establishing a set of 'management standards' under the aegis of the Health and Safety Executive. A disturbing conclusion of the report is that such guidelines have had little impact in reducing work stress even in a period when the economic climate was relatively favourable (although it remains possible that conditions would have been even worse without them). Given the challenge of the coming years, policymakers need to consider whether to be more proactive in ensuring that adequate measures are taken to reduce the risk of sharply rising work stress. The Scandinavian societies have taken a lead in developing forms of work organisation that are protective of employees' psychological health. The time has come, perhaps, to give serious policy consideration to how similar institutional developments could be encouraged in the UK.

**Professor Duncan Gallie, FBA,** Foreign Secretary (The British Academy) and Chair of the 'Stress at Work' Steering Group

# **KEY MESSAGES**

- Work stress has been increasing in Britain since 1992, especially for women. The number of female employees suffering from job-strain, an indicator of work stress, tripled from around 8% to almost 25% between 1992 and 2006.
- Since the 2008–09 recession, there has been a further steep increase in work stressors such as job insecurity, work intensity and inter-personal conflict at work, particularly among public sector workers.
- With cuts in government spending in the Emergency Budget 2010 directly affecting public sector employment, levels of work stress could increase even more among public sector workers.
- Work stressors increase the risk of depression and anxiety disorders, suicide, workplace injuries and accidents, and cardiovascular events. This results in sickness absence for employees with work stress.
- However, sickness absence rates have decreased since the 2008–09 recession despite an increase in work stress. This could be due to growing pressures to attend. Recessions could increase the phenomenon of "presenteeism", attending work because of the pressure to do so, which has consequences for individuals, employers and society.
- The economic costs of work stress to society have been estimated to lie between 0.5% and 1.2% of UK GDP. The costs to employers are much smaller than the costs to individuals and to society. Any estimated cost savings from planned cuts in government spending need to be balanced against the economic costs of work stress.
- There is no legislation in the UK specifically on work stress. The voluntary approved code of practice (the Health and Safety Management Standards) does not appear to have had an effect on reducing stress in the workplace.

• The introduction of "fit notes" may potentially increase the success of work stress claims if they are used in the legal process. However, these notes would require additional training for health care professionals so as to enable them to suggest appropriate work stress interventions for patients with work stress.

## SUMMARY

#### WORK STRESS AND THE 2008-09 RECESSION

Within the context of recessions, the apparent trade-off between improving the quality of existing and future jobs and creating new jobs may become unbalanced with much greater emphasis on the latter. This imbalance could increase work stress among current and future workers, which in turn has health, economic and social costs.

The 2008-09 recession has already resulted in increased levels of psychosocial work stressors in Britain. There has been an increase in job insecurity, work intensity and inter-personal conflict at work. Job insecurity among public sector workers has doubled since 2009. Since 2009, public sector workers have also reported a greater increase in (and higher levels of) work intensity, inter-personal work conflicts, bullying by managers and work hours compared to private sector workers. With cuts in government spending in the 2010 Emergency Budget primarily affecting public sector employment, levels of work stress could increase even more among public sector workers. Any estimated cost savings from planned cuts in government spending need to be balanced against the economic costs of work stress.

#### TRENDS IN WORK STRESS

Work stress has been increasing in Britain since 1992. The increase in work stress is particularly marked for women. Furthermore, there was an absolute increase of around 4–6 percentage points in most measures of work stressors in the oneyear period from spring 2009 to spring 2010. In comparison, the increase in one of the measures of work stressors (job strain) from 1992 to 2006 was around 0.5–1.0% per year. This suggests that work stressors in Britain have increased markedly since 2009.

Favourable trends in flexible work arrangements allowing for greater work–life balance appear to have been reversed by the recession. Employees report greater dissatisfaction with their work–life balance, greater dissatisfaction with their organisation's support in helping them achieve this balance, and increased work hours since 2009.

Relative to other European countries, Britain in 2004 was close to the EU-27 average in terms of the work stressors – (high) job demands and (low) job control. British workers experience better job security and support from supervisors, about the same levels of job control, and higher levels of repetitive and monotonous tasks.

#### THE COSTS OF WORK STRESS

Work stressors are associated with a wide range of health outcomes, including depression and anxiety disorders, suicide, workplace injuries and accidents and cardiovascular risk. This results in sickness absence for employees with work stress.

The recession could have ambiguous effects on sickness absence. Work stress increases the risk of sickness absence episodes. However, during recessions, people may become afraid of losing their jobs and so may become reluctant to take sickness absence leave even when they are ill. Sickness absence rates have decreased since the last recession. Recessions could therefore increase the phenomenon of "presenteeism", whereby employees attend work when they should be taking sickness absence. If employees who are ill are not able to rest and recover, this may affect their health and productivity adversely, which in turn will have economic costs for themselves, their employers and society.

The economic costs of work stress to society have been estimated to lie between 0.5% and 1.2% of UK GDP. The costs to employers are much smaller than the costs to individuals and to society. The cost of sick pay is the main and primary cost to employers of work-related ill-health. However, during recessions, sickness absence may fall and presenteeism could increase despite an increase in work stress. So while there may be significant savings to employers in the short term due to reduced costs of sick pay, the costs to the individual and society will increase if employees facing job insecurity and other work stressors develop long-term health problems.

#### REDUCING WORK STRESS

There are two main approaches to reducing stress in the workplace: stress management training (which focuses on increasing a person's ability to deal with stress) and workplace organisational interventions. Comprehensive approaches that include both stress management training and organisational interventions tend to yield positive outcomes for individuals as well as organisations.

There is no legislation in the UK specifically on work stress. There is a voluntary approved code of practice (the Health and Safety Management Standards) that is meant to guide employers in matters of work stress. Since the Management Standards came into being in 2004, there has been little decline in work stressors in Britain, and some evidence that work stressors have actually increased since 2009.

It is difficult for legal claims related to work stress to succeed, partly because courts may be reluctant to attribute the cause of someone's psychological injury to work related factors. The introduction of "fit notes" to replace "sick notes" by health care professionals may increase the potential success of work stress claims if they are used in the legal process. These fit notes may also act as a trigger for employers to take more action to reduce stress in the workplace. However, these notes would require additional training for health care professionals in suggesting appropriate work stress interventions for patients with work stress.

# INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1. THE 2008-09 RECESSION

Work related stress is a topic of growing interest in the UK and elsewhere. There has been an exponential growth in media reports of work stress since 1990 (Stansfeld et al. 2004). Furthermore, the 2008–09 recession is likely to impact on the work stress of workers who still have a job, and also on future workers. There have been recent surveys on the effects of the recession on work stress that have received extensive media coverage (Mind 2010; Work Life Balance Centre 2010).

Policy responses to the recession should not only target those who lose their work, but also those who remain in the workplace. It is likely that their levels of work stress could increase, partly as a result of increases in work load, work hours and job insecurity. However, the aim of most post-recession governments is to reduce unemployment and create jobs; improving the quality of jobs and reducing work stress may seem less important. The "any job is better than no job" sentiment may resonate for unemployed individuals as well as for governments. The apparent trade-off between improving the quality of jobs and creating new jobs may become unbalanced with much greater emphasis on the latter. The question of what types of jobs will grow after the recession needs to be considered now and not later (Green 2009).

This report examines the evidence for trends in work stress in Britain, within the context of growing unemployment and job insecurity. In particular, the report:

- identifies the main determinants of work stress within the context of a recession;
- examines trends in work stress in Britain and comparatively across Europe;

- reviews the health, social and economic costs of work stress; and
- discusses what can be done to reduce work stress in the individual, organisational and legal contexts.

#### 1.2. MODELS OF WORK STRESS

"Stress" is generally acknowledged to be a broad umbrella term, meaning different things to different people. For example, there are at least two common meanings to the term "work stress": the stress-generating working conditions and the stress response. So when people say they are "stressed out at work", they could be referring to the stressors they face at work such as their workload, or their response to those stressors in terms of their inability to cope, or any anxiety or worries arising from those stressors. Any model of work stress needs to clearly differentiate between the workplace stressor and the stress response.

Many studies of work stress do not commonly differentiate between the workplace stressor and the stress response. For example, a typical question asked in some surveys is "How stressful do you find your job?" A person responding "very stressful" to that question could be indicating that they have too much work to do, that they cannot cope with the work load, that they are worried by their workload, or a combination of all three. Job satisfaction is often used by employers and organisations to measure (lack of) work stress. However, as with the question asking people how stressful their job is, it is hard to know whether someone who says they are satisfied with their job does so because of their good, stress-free working conditions or because of their general positive attitude.

Currently, models of work stress focus more on measuring the stress-generating working conditions (the psychosocial work stressors) rather than stress responses, which are then measured separately using appropriate physiological, behavioural or psychological measures, rather than being combined into a single measure of work stress. So, for example, the demand-control-support model (Karasek and Theorell 1990) proposes that job strain (the stress response) results when the psychological demands of the job are high (e.g. a high pace of work, with conflicting demands), and workers have little control over when and how they do their work. In addition, if such workers have poor support from their colleagues and managers, they could have isolated job-strain (or iso-strain).

Alternatively, the effort-reward imbalance model (Siegrist 1998) suggests that it is the lack of reciprocity or the imbalance between the effort someone puts in at work and the rewards they obtain from such work (either in terms of esteem or monetary rewards) that leads to stress responses. Effort can be extrinsic (driven by external working conditions) or intrinsic (driven by personality traits like overcommitment). Both the job-strain (and iso-strain) and effort-reward imbalance models tend to be commonly referred to as models of "work stress", although strictly speaking they measure "psychosocial work stressors". In addition to the job-strain and effort-reward imbalance models, there are other aspects of stressful working conditions such as job insecurity, organisational and procedural fairness, emotional labour, organisational change and role clarity that describe psychosocial working conditions.

These models of "work stress" (psychosocial work stressors) are commonly measured through employees' self-reported answers to questionnaires. As there is no "gold standard" to measure work stress, the validity of using cross-sectional (or "snapshot") survey questions has been questioned. A review of measures of psychosocial work stressors (Rick et al. 2001) concluded that in general, there is relatively little sound evidence about the reliability and validity of most measures of work stress. This report strongly suggested that the quality

and utility of work stress measures was limited, although the report also suggested the job-strain model as implemented in the Whitehall II study (Marmot et al. 1991) had demonstrated adequate psychometric properties of reliability and validity.

Partly in response to this criticism of existing measures of work stress, the UK Health and Safety Executive developed a risk indicator tool for work stress (Mackay et al. 2004; Cousins et al. 2004). This model of work stress identifies six key areas of work design (Management Standards) that, if not properly managed, are associated with poor health and well-being, lower productivity and increased sickness absence. These six Management Standards cover the main dimensions of work stressors which include:

- Demands (workload, work patterns and the work environment);
- Control (how much say the person has in the way they do their work);
- Support (the encouragement, sponsorship and resources provided by the organisation, line management and colleagues);
- Relationships (promoting positive working to avoid conflict and dealing with unacceptable behaviour);
- Role (whether people understand their role within the organisation and whether the organisation ensures they do not have conflicting roles); and
- Change (how organisational change is managed and communicated in the organisation).

There are some commonalities between all these models of work stress. The UK Health and Safety risk indicator tool shares several common dimensions with the demand-controlsupport model. High (extrinsic) effort on the effort-reward imbalance model corresponds closely to high work demands on the demand-control-support model. Job security is part of the "reward" dimension of the effort-reward imbalance model and is indirectly measured as part of the work support and change dimensions of the demand-control-support model and the Health and Safety risk indicator tool.

The problem of validity of measurement is present in all types of social research. The absence of a gold standard to measure work stress does not necessarily mean that the measures described above are flawed. The measurement of multiple dimensions of work stress with multiple question items per dimension increases the reliability and validity of these measures. Some of the measures of work stress described in the rest of the report are single item questions from cross-sectional surveys with weaker validity. However, these single item measures come from time-series data such as the Labour Force Survey (Office for National Statistics 2010A), the British Skills Survey (Gallie et al. 2006) and the CIPD Employment Outlook Surveys (CIPD 2010A). The cumulative evidence of trends in these measures of work stress helps to overcome some of their methodological weaknesses.

 $\mathcal{D}$ 

# DETERMINANTS OF WORK STRESS

Rapid changes in the nature of work and workforce composition through globalisation and competition have the potential to increase stress in the modern workplace (Cooper 2006). These changes include unstable labour markets, new forms of employment contract resulting in job insecurity, work intensification, and inter-personal work conflict and violence in the workplace. Such changes tend to increase during and after a recession.

#### 2.1. UNEMPLOYMENT, UNSTABLE LA-BOUR MARKETS AND JOB INSECURITY

In unstable labour markets, both permanent and non-permanent workers increasingly experience job insecurity, the latter especially so. Figure 1 shows the trends in unemployment and a proxy indicator of job insecurity taken from the Labour Force Survey in the UK. As there are no representative long-term time trend data on job insecurity from the UK, a proxy indicator of insecure employment contracts was derived from the Labour Force Survey which asks temporary workers the reasons why their contracts are temporary (this question was first asked in 1992). Those that said that they could not find a permanent job are assumed to have higher levels of job insecurity. This measure may indicate how hard (or easy) it is for temporary workers to find permanent jobs in the economy, possibly reflecting job insecurity in the wider workforce. However, there is the caveat that job insecurity among temporary workers may not be representative of job insecurity among the wider workforce.

Figure 1 shows a strong correlation between the trends in unemployment rate and job insecurity. The fall in the unemployment rate after the 1990s recession was mirrored by a fall in job insecurity. Similarly the increase in the unemployment rate during the 2008–09 recession is mirrored by an increase in job insecurity. It is highly likely that as unemployment increases in the UK during the current period, psychosocial work stressors such as job insecurity will also increase, both among non-permanent employees as suggested in the figure, and possibly among permanent employees.

Figure 1: Trends in unemployment rates and the percentage of temporary employees who cannot find a permanent job. Labour Force Survey: 1992–2010.



The CIPD (Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development) employment outlook surveys (CIPD 2010A, 2010B, 2009A, 2009B, 2009C) have been tracking employee attitudes during the 2008–09 recession. Figure 2 shows that while private sector employees are more likely than public sector employees to think they could lose their current main job as a result of the economic climate, private sector employees feel more secure in their jobs in spring 2010 compared to spring 2009. In contrast, feelings of job insecurity have more than doubled among public sector workers. The three surveys in between the two displayed in Figure 2 also show a steady increase in feelings of job insecurity since spring 2009. This suggests that the increase in feelings of job insecurity is real and not a reporting artefact.

Figure 2: Percentage of employees who think they are likely/ very likely to lose their job, by private and public sector. CIPD Employment Outlook Surveys (CIPD 2010A).



During the mid-1970s recession in the United States, unemployment rates rose from 4.9% to 8.5%. Higher occupational unemployment rates during this recession increased stress and lowered life satisfaction indirectly through reduced job control and increased job demands (Fenwick and Tausig 1994). The authors suggest that recessions affect workers' stress levels through changes in their routine working conditions that represent increased and continued exposure to stressful working conditions.

Downsizing, or the reduction in staff levels and hours worked in an organisation, is frequently used as a management tool to improve efficiency and reduce costs, even during nonrecession periods. For example, the outsourcing of non-core

functions by many employers has led to the downsizing and restructuring of organisations in industrialised countries, and changes in working arrangements and relationships (Dewe and Kompier 2008). Such changes have led to increased feelings of job insecurity, not just by those employees who have lost their jobs, but also by those who have survived reorganisation and remain employed. A survey of British employees (CIPD 2006) found that 34% of respondents ranked organisational change/ restructuring as one of their top three causes of stress. During the 1990s recession in Finland, unemployment rose from 3% in 1990 to 15% in 1995. This increase was accompanied by major downsizing (a reduction in hours worked of more than 18%) which in turn resulted in greater job insecurity among the "survivors" (Kivimaki et al. 2000). In addition to increasing the workload of those remaining in employment (fewer workers doing the same amount of work), downsizing results in the threat of job loss becoming a salient stressor for more of the workers who remain (Dewe and Kompier 2008).

Figure 3: Percentage of employees reporting their work hours have increased in the last three months, by private and public sector. CIPD Employment Outlook Surveys (CIPD 2010A).


Recessions are characterised by a steep increase in unemployment rates and downsizing by employers. Such downsizing could imply longer working hours for those that remain in employment. The CIPD employment outlook surveys have tracked these changes from the 2008–09 recession by asking employees if their work hours have increased in the last three months. This is shown in Figure 3 – all employees reported an increase in work hours from spring 2009 to spring 2010. This increase was particularly marked for public sector employees.

## 2.2. NEW FORMS OF EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT

A review of emerging risks to work stress by experts (EU-OSHA 2007) identified new forms of employment and contracting practices, including precarious contracts (such as temporary, on-call or part-time contracts), and the trend towards lean production and outsourcing as the most important sources of increasing work stressors. Workers in these types of contract are more vulnerable than permanent workers. They usually carry out the most hazardous jobs, work in poorer conditions, and often receive less occupational health and safety training. These new forms of employment contract are associated with less job security than full-time permanent contract jobs (Benach and Muntaner 2007). In the context of a recession, such nonstandard forms of employment may become more widespread (Peck and Theodore 2007).

The isolation of workers could also increase as a result of new forms of employment contract and working arrangements (Kompier 2006). Some of these work arrangements (e.g. flexibility in starting and quitting times, working from home) could reduce work stress and improve job satisfaction. However, such arrangements also reduce opportunities for daily face-toface social interactions and peer and supervisor support (Dewe and Kompier 2008). Lack of communication can be a source of stress in virtual teams given the absence of verbal and face-toface cues and resulting misinterpretations.

In Britain, there are now a record number of people in parttime and temporary employment because they cannot secure a conventional full-time job -1.6 million people (Office for National Statistics 2010B). The long-term casualisation of the UK labour market, which has seen a decline in traditional fulltime jobs, appears to have been accelerated by the recession.

#### 2.3. WORK INTENSIFICATION

Work intensification (high workload and work pressure) has increased partly as a consequence of new forms of employment contract and job insecurity, and also as a result of the introduction of new information and communication technologies into the workplace (Green 2004). Higher workloads, greater work demands and time pressures shared between fewer workers can lead to an increase in work stress. Work intensification has been a significant feature of organisational change in the majority of developed countries since the 1980s. European statistics (EU-OSHA 2007) indicate that almost half of all European employees work at very high speed for three quarters or more of the time (from the European Working Conditions Survey 2005). In comparison with the previous surveys (1991–2001), work intensity is on the increase.

Work intensification is often accompanied by a worsening in working conditions, whether in terms of physical or psychological discomforts, nuisance or occupational risks. For example, new systems of work organisation, such as lean production and total quality management, have been introduced by the automobile industry throughout the industrialized world to improve productivity, quality, and profitability. However, studies suggest that lean production creates intensified work pace and demands. Increases in skill levels are modest or temporary, whereas job control typically remains low. Thus, such working patterns may lead to job strain (high work demands and low work control) (Landsbergis et al. 1999).

In addition to quantitative aspects of work load (too much work, long working hours), there may be additional pressures to engage in continuous learning (such as continuing professional development for some occupations). These pressures may involve learning new skills for new aspects of the job, arising from more sophisticated software and technological innovations (Dewe and Kompier 2008). Such learning may not be actively supported by the workplace, with the expectation that the employee learns these skills in their own unpaid time.

Figure 4: Trends in the percentage of employees reporting they are under excessive pressure several days of the week and have too high a workload: spring 2009 to spring 2010. CIPD Employment Outlook Surveys (CIPD 2010A, 2010B, 2009A, 2009B, 2009C).



Qualitative evidence from the Irish construction industry suggests that work intensification may increase during a

recession (CLR news 2009). The construction sector was particularly badly hit as the building boom came to an abrupt end in 2008 with a loss of almost 100,000 construction jobs. The recession has resulted in an increase in unpaid overtime, work demands and time pressures among those that still have a job in construction.

The CIPD employment outlook surveys have been tracking work intensification since spring 2009 (CIPD 2010A, 2010B, 2009A, 2009B, 2009C). Figure 4 shows that there has been a steady increase in the percentage of employees feeling under excessive pressure several days of the week, and also reporting too high a workload. This figure suggests that work intensification has increased in the UK since the 2008–09 recession.

## 2.4. VIOLENCE AND INTER-PERSONAL CONFLICT AT WORK

With more and more people working in the service sector where client contact is a critical part of the job, incidents of workplace violence are rising (Dewe and Kompier 2008). The Union of Shop, Distributive and Allied Workers reported that every minute of the working day, a shop worker is verbally abused, threatened with violence or physically attacked (Usdaw 2007). Work-related violence is a widespread problem across all sectors and a major occupational hazard (http://www.unison. org.uk/acrobat/13024.pdf).

Violence at work can be psychological as well as physical. Different terms have been used to describe psychological violence such as "mobbing", "bullying" and "harassment". The Fourth European Survey on Working Conditions (EU-OSHA 2007) reports that 5% to 6% of all European workers have been subjected to some form of violence, bullying or harassment. The level of violence has increased slightly in the EU-15 (from 4% to 6% during 1995–2005). In all European countries, female employees, especially young women, were more often the subject of bullying and harassment than were men. Migrant workers are also especially at risk of bullying. Bullying was mostly found in the service sector: it was reported by 14% of workers from the education and health sector, public administration and defence sector, and hotels and restaurants sector. Furthermore, 12% of workers from the transport and communications sector and 9% of workers from the wholesale and retail trade sector reported bullying.

Figure 5: Percentage of employees reporting an increase in interpersonal conflict at work, by private and public sector. CIPD Employment Outlook Surveys (CIPD 2010A).



Restructuring, downsizing and other crises are important changes that often precipitate bullying in organisations (Salin 2003). Evidence for this is presented in Figures 5 and 6 above which show how the percentage of employees reporting an increase in inter-personal work conflict and bullying by managers has increased from spring 2009 to spring 2010. This is true in both the private and public sectors, but there is a greater increase in conflict and bullying reported by public sector workers. Measuring workplace bullying through survey questions is problematic, with research producing very different estimates of workplace bullying (Coyne et al. 2003). However, surveys using a common method may be able to show genuine trends. The rising trend in inter-personal conflict at work and bullying by managers across the four CIPD employment outlook surveys since spring 2009, for example, suggests a real increase.

Figure 6: Percentage of employees reporting an increase in bullying by managers, by private and public sector. CIPD Employment Outlook Surveys (CIPD 2010A).



## 2.5. OCCUPATIONAL DETERMINANTS OF WORK STRESS

There is a stereotype that people at the top occupational grades, with the most important jobs, have the highest levels of work stress (Harkness et al. 2005). However, this view is not supported by the evidence which points to the reverse – it is those lower down the occupational hierarchy who often report the highest levels of work stressors.

Figure 7 plots the mean job demands and job control scores by industrial sector across European countries (Parent-

Thirion et al. 2007). Workers in hotels and restaurants, transport, construction and manufacturing are in the quadrant of "highstrain work organisation", with higher than average levels of job demands and lower than average levels of job control. In terms of job strain, these are the most stressful jobs in Europe. In contrast, the low-strain quadrant (with higher than average levels of job control but lower than average levels of job demands) contains the education, public administration and financial intermediation sectors. While it may be a surprise to see the finance and insurance sectors being described as being less stressful in terms of working conditions, this sector enjoys the highest levels of job control, which helps to offset the job demands within this sector. It is clear from this figure that occupations with the highest levels of work stressors (in terms of the job-strain model) are not those at the top of the occupational hierarchy.

Figure 7: Job demands and control, by sector (adapted from the 4th European Working conditions survey report. Parent-Thirion et al. 2007).



Even within white collar jobs, the most important and highest paid jobs are not the ones with the highest levels of work stress. Evidence from a study of public sector civil servants (the Whitehall II study) shows a clear occupational gradient in job strain (Chandola and Marmot, in press). Those at the top of the civil service hierarchy (e.g. Permanent Secretaries in Unified Grade 1) report the lowest average levels of job strain, while those at the bottom of the hierarchy (e.g. messengers, guards and supply carriers) report the highest levels (Figure 8). This occupational gradient was not apparent earlier on in their working careers. Instead, those at the top of the civil service reported the highest levels of job demands. However, although those lower in the hierarchy report lower job demands to start with, over their career lifetime, their job demands increase. Conversely, those at the top of the hierarchy report higher job demands initially, but they are able to reduce their levels of job demands over their working careers.

Figure 8: The occupational gradient in job strain in the Whitehall II study (note: a z score of 0 represents the mean job strain).



Jobstrain: (higher score=greater work stressors)

### 2.6. WORK-FAMILY CONFLICT, WORK-LIFE BALANCE AND FLEXIBLE WORKING ARRANGEMENTS

Technological advances have increased the connectedness of workers to their jobs. Employees can stay connected to their job even after leaving the work place. Such technological advances could potentially increase work hours, and conflicts between work and home life (Dewe and Kompier 2008). Irregular and/ or inflexible working hours are further potential sources of work/family conflict. Non-standard hours such as shift, weekend and night work can be especially disruptive for work–life balance when an employee is in precarious employment.

On the other hand, family stressors may increase feelings of work stress. Interpersonal, marital, financial and childrearing factors can increase the perception of work related stressors and vice versa. Stressful domestic situations may leave a worker fatigued due to lack of sleep, less able to cope with demanding tasks and with an increased perception of work stressors. Similarly, a worker may bring home their work stress and perceive even minor domestic conflicts as very stressful. These work–family spillover effects are significant because, since the 1970s, there has been a steady rise in the proportion of households where both spouses work. Along with a lengthening of the average working week, this has increased conflicts between the demands of the workplace and the home.

Family resources may also have a strong moderating influence on workplace stressors. A worker with good support networks may be able to cope with high levels of psychosocial work stressors. Similarly, work-based resources and support may allow employees with high work demands to cope with their work stressors. Organisations are now offering flexible work arrangements to help employees achieve better balance between work and family demands. According to legislation in the UK (April 2003), all employees with children under the age of six or with a disabled child under the age of 18 have the right to request flexible work. Flexible work arrangements such as flexitime, telecommuting, job sharing and a compressed work week allow employees some level of control over when and where they work.

Research on flexible work arrangements suggests that they have positive outcomes such as lower work–family conflict (Anderson et al., 2002), better work–family balance (e.g. Eby et al., 2005), lower staff turnover (Dalton and Mesch 1990), and increased job satisfaction (Scandura and Lankau 1997). A metaanalysis conducted by Baltes et al. (1999) demonstrated that such flexible arrangements were positively related to employee productivity, satisfaction with work schedules and overall job satisfaction, and negatively associated with absenteeism.

Findings show that these arrangements enable individuals to integrate work and family responsibilities within their personal time and space and are instrumental in achieving a healthy work–family balance and reducing work stress. However, employees are often reluctant to take advantage of work–life programmes due to their fear of the negative consequences that may be caused to their career progress (Allen 2001; Thompson et al. 1999). Judiesch and Lyness (1999) found that taking leave of absence was associated with fewer subsequent promotions and smaller salary increases.

In the UK, the Third Work–life Balance Employee Survey (Hooker et al. 2007) found high levels of employee satisfaction and a significant increase in the availability of most flexible working arrangements between 2003 and 2006. However, this favourable picture of employees being satisfied with their employers' provisioning for a work–life balance may have changed since the recession. Figure 9 shows that there has been an increase in the percentage of employees reporting they are not satisfied with their work–life balance; and also an increase in employees' dissatisfaction with their organisation in helping with their work-life balance since 2009.

Figure 9: Trends in the percentage of employees reporting they are not satisfied with their work–life balance and that their organisation does not help support their work–life balance: spring 2009 to spring 2010. CIPD Employment Outlook Surveys (CIPD 2010A, 2010B, 2009A, 2009B, 2009C).



During the recession, some employers have tried to keep their workers employed, but on reduced hours or flexible contracts. This could potentially improve the work–life balance for some employees. However, there is a difference between an employee choosing to work fewer hours and one being forced to accept a reduced-hours contract. Furthermore, on average, it appears that employees perceive their work hours have actually increased since the recession (see Figure 3). This suggests that their work–life balance may have been adversely affected by the 2008–09 recession. 

# HOW BIG IS THE PROBLEM OF WORK STRESS IN BRITAIN?

The exponential growth in media reports of work stress since 1990 (Stansfeld et al. 2004) might lead to the impression that there has been a steady increase in levels of work stress since the early 1990s. However, statistics on work stressors show a more complex picture (section 3.1). Moreover, there is no evidence that British workers report the highest (or lowest) levels of work stressors relative to other European countries (section 3.2).

## 3.1. TIME-SERIES TRENDS ON WORK STRESS

Official prevalence data for work-related stress in the United Kingdom are largely derived from the Self-reported Workrelated Illness (SWI) Surveys that began in 1990 as a trailer to the Labour Force Survey (http://www.hse.gov.uk/statistics/ publications/swi.htm) and which have continued on a regular basis. In 2008/09, 1.4% of workers working in the previous 12 months reported a health complaint of stress, depression or anxiety that was caused or made worse by work. In 1998/98, this figure was 1.6%, and in 1995, this figure was 1.0%. So while work stress by this measure has risen since 1995, it has fallen since 1998.

However, there are methodological problems with this measure of work stress as it requires in the worker the willingness and ability to "self-diagnose" depression, stress and anxiety and attribute it to the work context. There may be considerable differences in such an ability to self-diagnose such work stress within and between populations. Responses to the self-reported work-related ill health question depend on laypeople's perceptions of medical matters; they cannot be taken as an indicator of the "true" extent of work stress. People's beliefs may be mistaken: they may ascribe the cause of illness to work when there is no such link; and they may fail to recognise a link with working conditions when there is one because of the multifactorial nature of ill health or the delay between work stressor exposure and ill health (http://www.hse.gov.uk/ statistics/sources.htm).

The British Skills Survey series is one of the few sources of time trend data on psychosocial work stressors. From 1992 to 2006, there has been a decline in task discretion (the degree of initiative that employees can exercise over their immediate work tasks, an indicator of job control) (Gallie et al. 2004; Green 2009). The decline in job control was mirrored by a decline in employees working in self-managing teams, indicating lower autonomy in the workplace (Gallie et al. 2010). During the same period (1992 to 2006), work intensification has increased (Green 2009). Since 1992, the proportion of employees who report strong agreement with the question "my job requires that I work very hard" has risen substantially – from about 26% to 39% in the private sector, and from 26% to 44% in the public sector.

Green (2009) has estimated trends in job-strain using the concept of job-strain from the British Skills Survey, although not with the same questions as in the job-demand-control model (Karasek and Theorell, 1990). A high-strain job was defined as having high required effort and low task discretion. Figure 11 shows that there has been an increase in job-strain since 1992, with a much steeper increase for women.

Another source of time trends data on psychosocial work stressors comes from the Psychosocial Working Conditions survey 2004–2009 (Packham and Webster 2009). This is an annual survey of employees commissioned by the UK Health and Safety Executive to monitor the Management Standards (see section 1.2). Generally the findings show little change in psychosocial working conditions in Britain between 2004 and 2009 (Packham and Webster 2009). The Management Standards for work-related stress aim to improve psychosocial working conditions in Britain. However, there has not been any improvement since the implementation of these standards in 2004. It may be that a longer time period is needed to see changes in psychosocial work stressors at a population level. However, with the advent of the recession in 2008, the effects of these management standards on improving psychosocial working conditions may be limited.

Figure 10: Percentage of employees in British Skills Survey with "high-strain" jobs, 1992–2006 (Adapted from Green 2009).



More recently, the CIPD Employment outlook surveys in 2009 and 2010 document a steady deterioration in work stressors such as job insecurity (Figure 2) work intensity (Figure 5), work hours (Figure 3), work–life balance (Figure 10), workplace bullying by managers (Figure 7) and inter-personal conflict at work (Figure 6). There has been an increase of around 4–6% in most of these work stressors in the one-year period from spring 2009 to spring 2010. In comparison, the increase in job strain from 1992 to 2006 (Figure 10) was around 0.5–1.0% per year. This suggests that work stressors have increased steadily in Britain since 1992 and markedly since 2009.

#### 3.2. CROSS-NATIONAL COMPARISONS

An analysis of the comparative position of British workers in relation to European workers used data from the Fourth European Working Conditions Survey (Fauth and Mcverry 2008). The authors found that workers in the UK (compared to the EU-27 average) have better job security and support from supervisors when needed, about the same levels of job control, and higher levels of repetitive and monotonous tasks. Another analysis of the relative position of Britain in relation to other European countries in terms of job demands and control is shown in Figure 11. This figure shows that workers in Turkey, Slovenia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Germany and Greece are in the quadrant of "job strain" - they have high levels of job demands and low levels of job control. British workers are in the "passive work" quadrant, with relatively lower job demands and lower job control compared to the EU average. However, it is also clear from the figure that British workers are close to the average levels of job demands and job control in the EU-27 countries. These results suggest that while Britain is not among the countries with the highest levels of work stressors, it is also not the country with lowest levels of work stressors.

The use of global measures of work stress (such as the selfreported work-related Stress/Depression/Anxiety measure) in cross-national comparisons is problematic. There may be significant cultural and cross-national variations in the willingness and ability to attribute and diagnose (stress related) illness to a specific cause like work. This causes problems in the interpretation of cross-national differences in questions such as "Does your work affect your health?" followed by questions on the symptoms (including stress-related illnesses) which are affected by work. The Fourth European Survey of Working Conditions (Parent-Thirion et al. 2007) ranks the UK as having the lowest work-related stress in Europe in terms of these questions. However this ranking does not necessarily mean that British workers are the least stressed in Europe, as the meaning of these global measures of work stress may differ considerably between countries. It may be more useful to interpret cross-national differences in work stressors, measured through perceptions of job quality or poor psychosocial working conditions, rather than cross-national differences in the perception that work causes illness.

Figure 11: Job demands and control, by country, from the Fourth European Working Conditions Survey (Parent-Thirion et al. 2007)



Belgium (BE), Bulgaria (BG), Czech Republic (CZ), Denmark (DK), Germany (DE), Estonia (EE), Ireland (IE), Greece (EL), Spain (ES), France (FR), Italy (IT), Cyprus (CY), Latvia (LV), Lithuania (LT), Luxembourg (LU), Hungary (HU), Malta (MT), Netherlands (NL), Norway (NO) Austria (AT), Poland (PL), Portugal (PT), Romania (RO), Slovenia (SI), Slovakia (SK), Switzerland (CH), Finland (FI), Sweden (SE), Turkey (TR) United Kingdom (UK)

### THE COSTS OF WORK STRESS

#### 4.1. WORK STRESS AND HEALTH

The conceptual model of work stress adopted in this report distinguishes psychosocial work stressors from stress responses. Short-term stress reactions include physiological, behavioural and affective responses such as activation of biological stress reactions (Chandola et al. 2010), sleep disturbance (Akerstedt 2006) and changes in mood (Woo and Postolache 2008). These responses in turn affect long-term behavioural, physical and mental problems, increasing the risks of disease, workplace injury and sickness absence. Some of the extensive literature linking work stress with this diverse range of health outcomes is reviewed in this section. Cross-sectional surveys are particularly limited in terms of demonstrating the effects of work stress on poor health, as the direction of association may be reversed. Where possible, the literature reviewed below examines evidence from longitudinal studies where work stress is measured prior to the incidence of poor health.

#### 4.1.1. Work stress and risk of cardiovascular disease

There have been a number of reviews on the effect of work stress on coronary heart disease. Most reviews show a consistent pattern (Table 1). There is moderate evidence for some measures of work stress on the relative risk of heart disease (Eller 2009), corresponding to an increase of 50% in the relative risk of heart disease among those who report work stress compared to those who do not (Kivimaki et al. 2006). Further evidence on the effect of work stressors on cardiovascular risk come from a number of studies on the effects of job insecurity and organisational downsizing (EMCONET 2007). Table 1: Systematic reviews of the association of work stress with heart disease

1st author	year	papers	analysis	Effect on CHD
Eller	2009	33	sys review	Moderate evidence for job demands, iso- strain, low support
Kivimaki	2006	14	meta-analysis	50% excess relative risk among employees reporting work stress
Netterstrøm	2005	35	sys review	23 studies show an association with work stress
Kuper	2002	13	sys review	10 studies show an association with work stress

Evidence from the Whitehall II civil servants study suggest that workers who report work stress more often in their working careers have increased risks of heart disease, obesity and cardiovascular risk (Brunner et al. 2007; Chandola et al. 2006; Chandola et al. 2008). Even a single report of work stress during the 12–15 years of follow up in terms of iso-strain (the combination of low job control, high job demands and low support at work) was associated with increased risk.

### 4.1.2. Work stress and common mental disorders/ depression/suicide

A meta-analysis provides robust consistent evidence that (combinations of) high demands and low decision latitude and (combinations of) high efforts and low rewards are prospective risk factors for common mental disorders such as depression and anxiety (Stansfeld and Candy 2006). One of the problems in this field is finding out the extent to which work stress is a cause of depression or anxiety or vice-versa. It is possible that people who are depressed view their working conditions as more stressful. This review (Stansfeld and Candy 2006) managed to get around those problems in two ways. Firstly it used measures of psychosocial work stressors (perceptions of job demands and control), rather than questions on how stressful the workers found their jobs. Secondly, it used studies that followed people up (longitudinal studies). Longitudinal analyses can exclude (or take into account) people with preexisting depression or anxiety from their analyses so that the results are not influenced by a person's existing (poor) mental well-being.

A review found evidence that work stress is related to mood disorders and suicide (Woo and Postolache 2008). A prospective study investigated the association between psychosocial job characteristics and the risk for suicide among Japanese male workers (Tsutsumi 2007). Low control at work increased the suicidal risk more than fourfold. Most of the suicide victims had suffered from low social support, high psychological demand, low decision latitude, and long working hours (Amagasa et al. 2005).

Previous studies have shown a strong association between unemployment and suicide (Platt 1984). Some of this association may be due to insecure employment (or job insecurity) following unemployment (Lewis and Slogett 1994). Figure 12 shows the association between suicide rates among men aged 15–44 years and a proxy measure of job insecurity in the workplace among men. The measure of job insecurity has been described in section 1.3.1, and is a proxy indicator of insecure employment contracts derived from the Labour Force Survey which asks male temporary workers to self-describe the reasons why their contracts are temporary. There is a close correlation between the trends in job insecurity among men and the trends in male suicide rate. With the exception of the increase in the male suicide rate in 1998, increases and decreases in job insecurity appear to be correlated with the suicide rate (Pearson correlation of 0.71). The correlation of male suicide rates with male unemployment rates over the same time period is less strong (Pearson correlation of 0.49). This suggests that the effect of unemployment on increasing suicide risk may be partly through increased work stressors like job insecurity. It also suggests that male suicide rates in this age group could increase given the continuing increase in unemployment and job insecurity, if there is a causal link between the two.

Figure 12: Trends in male job insecurity (Labour Force Survey) and UK male suicide rate aged 15–44 (ONS Annual Online Edition).



#### 4.1.3. Work stress and accidents/injuries

From reviews of the literature, high job stress is consistently associated with injuries such as upper extremity disorders including symptoms and disorders of the hand/wrist, elbow/

forearm, shoulder and back (Bongers, Krema, Laak 2002; Weiser and Cedraschi 1992). In the United States, working in jobs with overtime schedules was associated with a 61% higher injury hazard rate compared to jobs without overtime (Dembe 2005). Such job schedules with long working hours are more risky not merely because they are concentrated in inherently hazardous industries or occupations, or because people working long hours spend more total time "at risk" for a work injury. It is the overtime schedules themselves that raise the risk of injury. In Canada, perceived levels of work stress were associated with activity-limiting work injuries (Wilkins and Mackenzie 2007). A review of the effects of downsizing and job insecurity (Quinlan and Bohle 2009) found some evidence on their effects on occupational injury and violence at work.

A study of patient safety in Swiss hospitals found high demands and low job control were risk factors for patient safety (Elfering et al. 2006). When nurses work under high demands and low control, events that endanger safety are experienced by these nurses as more familiar, and hence are more likely to recur. This study adds to the literature that suggests a relationship between (medical) error and stress (Aiken et al. 2002). Increased work place injury and accident rates among non-permanent workers such as those on casual or temporary contracts have also been documented (EMCONET 2007).

#### 4.1.4. Work stress, sickness absence and presenteeism

A review of longitudinal studies on work stress, downsizing and sickness absence was conducted for this report. Longitudinal studies (that follow people up) are especially important when examining whether work stress influences sickness absence as people who are ill may be more likely to report stressful working conditions than healthy people. Longitudinal analyses can get around this problem by only analysing the subsample of people at the baseline who are healthy to start with.

The results of this review (using appropriate search terms in the PubMed database) are displayed in Table 2. Work stress and downsizing are consistently associated with higher rates of sickness absence. All the studies found by the review reported statistically significant associations. Employees who reported having lower rewards from their job were more likely to have a sickness episode. Workers with lower job control and work support, higher job demands, high job strain, effort-reward imbalance, or organisational downsizing were more likely to have a sickness episode.

It is important to remember that these studies analyse the people remaining in employment after organisational change (or "survivors") and that any negative health outcomes are not a result of unemployment. Some evidence suggests that around half of the effects of downsizing on sickness absence was attributable to negative changes in psychosocial work stressors, impaired support from spouses and increased prevalence of smoking (Kivimaki 2000).

The recession could have ambiguous effects on sickness absence. It is possible that sickness absence rates could rise in line with the increase in work stressors. However, people may become afraid of losing their jobs in the context of the recession and so may become reluctant to take sickness absence leave even when they are ill. A recent survey suggests that sickness absence rates in the UK decreased during the last recession (CBI 2010). The concept of presenteeism has been used to describe the phenomenon when people, despite complaints and ill health that should prompt rest and absence from work, still turn up at work. If employees who are ill are not able to rest and recover, this will be costly to their health in the long run, and will also be costly for their employers. Table 2: List of longitudinal studies in the PubMed database on work stress and sickness absence

1st author	year	sample: women, men	exposure	increased relative risk
Roelen	2009	109w, 217m	low reward	m: 56%
Virtanen	2007	6663w, 1323m	job strain	w: 17%, m: 41%
Ala-Mursula	2005	12127w, 4012m	job strain	w: 27%, m: 21%
Ala-Mursula	2005	12127w, 4012m	effort-reward imbalance	w: 21%, m: 41%
Westerlund	2004	24036w+m	moderate downsizing	7%
Vahtera	2004	16521w, 5909m	major downsizing	18 extra sickness absence days
Kivimaki	2000	764w+m	major downsizing	117%
Vahtera	2000	530w+m	decreased job control	30%
Vahtera	2000	530w+m	decreased work support	30%
Vahtera	2000	530w+m	increase job demands	10%

m: men; w: women

relative risks were estimated using rate or odds ratios

## 4.2. THE ECONOMIC COSTS OF WORK STRESS

The estimation of the economic costs of work stress is problematic. This is because work stress affects a range of outcomes that have economic consequences. The size of this effect is not well established and varies considerably from study to study. In addition, these economic costs are often hard to estimate. For example, while it may be relatively straightforward to estimate the costs of sickness absence, it is much harder to estimate the costs of presenteeism. Furthermore, while most organisations monitor sickness absences, fewer investigate the causes of such absences, making it hard to estimate the costs of work stress due to sickness absence. Hence estimates of the economic costs of work stress range considerably, depending on data sources, the assumptions made and the models used.

#### 4.2.1. Costs to society

A Dutch study (Koningsveld et al. 2003) estimated the economic costs of poor working conditions, using a financial model of the social costs of poor working conditions on medical care, lost working days, absenteeism, disability and company performance. The study estimated that the total cost of poor working conditions in the Netherlands in 2001 was equivalent to 2.96% of GNP. Most of the costs to society of poor working conditions come from work-related absence and disability, which are mainly caused by musculoskeletal disorders (43%) and psychological disorders (40%). Other diagnoses associated with high costs were heart and vascular diseases (5%), problems with the nervous system including the eyes and ears (4%), and occupational accidents (4%). So one estimate of the costs of work stress could be 40% (the costs associated with psychological diseases) of the total cost of poor working conditions. However, this may be a conservative estimate as it

ignores the contribution of work stressors to the cost of treating musculoskeletal disorders and heart/vascular diseases.

Another estimate of the costs of work stress was derived by a French study (Béjean and Taieb 2005) which measured the economic costs of work stress in terms of:

- the number of deaths, years of life lost, and days of work losses arising from occupational stress;
- the direct costs of medical care for the illnesses caused by occupational stress; and
- the indirect costs of occupational stress, including the loss of potential output because of premature death, the loss of production through sickness leave, and all health care related spending related to these two losses.

The study estimated the cost of work-related stress was around  $\notin$ 1167–1975 million in France in 2000, which was equivalent to around 0.08–0.14% of the French GDP in 2000.

The UK Health and Safety Executive (HSE 1999) has estimated costs associated with work related ill health and accidents for three types of stakeholder: individuals, employers and society. Figure 13 shows the different categories that make up the total costs for each of these stakeholders. For individuals, the economic costs of work-related ill health and accidents comprise lost earnings, extra expenditure when absent from work and human costs in terms of pain, grief and suffering. For employers, the costs include absence costs (sick pay), costs of presenteeism and reduced productivity, compensation, insurance, administrative and recruitment costs. The costs to society include loss to the country's economic output, treatment, damages and administrative costs, and also include human costs.

In the UK, the economic costs of all workplace accidents and work-related ill health in 2001/02 have been estimated by the Health and Safety Executive in Figure 14 (Pathak 2008). The costs to society range between £20 billion and £36 billion, while the costs to employers are much lower, ranging from  $\pounds$ 4.5 billion to  $\pounds$ 8 billion. Pathak (2008) suggests that as long as employers do not bear the full costs of workplace injuries and work-related ill health, they will have few incentives to reduce workplace risks to health and safety. As these figures are for all workplace accidents and ill health, the figures for those resulting from work stressors will be lower.

Figure 13: Cost categories that constitute the economic costs to individuals, employers and society of workplace accidents and work related ill health (from HSE 1999).



In 2001/02, around 35% of all self-reported health complaints perceived to be caused or made worse by work were due to "stress, depression or anxiety" (Labour Force Survey). Ignoring the methodological problems of using this measure, a crude estimate of the economic costs of work stress to Britain could be 35% of £20–36 billion, which is £7–12.6 billion, or around 0.7–1.2% of the GDP in 2002. In 1995/96, this cost was estimated to be £3.7–3.8 billion (Cousins et al. 2004), or around 0.5% of GDP in 1996. The CBI has estimated the cost to the UK economy of all sickness absence in 2007 to be £13.2 billion (CBI 2008). They estimate around 40% of sickness absence to be due to work stress, which suggests that the cost of sickness absence due to work stress was around 0.9% of UK GDP in 2007. This underestimates the cost of work stress as it ignores the other cost categories of work stress in Figure 13.

Figure 14: Costs to Britain of workplace accidents and workrelated ill health, 2001/02 From Pathak (2008).



#### 4.2.2. Costs to employers

A systematic review of the microeconomic costs of work-stress (Brun and Lamarche 2006) concluded that these costs can be broken down into two broad categories that are not mutually exclusive: absenteeism and presenteeism. Contrary to popular belief, presenteeism can be a costly phenomenon within organisations (Hemp 2004). A Canadian study found only 2% to 3% of people are absent from work for psychological disorders, while 40% of those who stay at work show signs of heightened psychological stress that subsequently interferes with their work (Brun et al. 2003). Brun and Lamarche (2006) estimated that the direct and indirect cost of work stress to a Canadian organisation with 4,000 employees was Can\$1,950,000 (or around £1,249,000). Of this amount, 80.3% was associated with absenteeism and 19.7% with presenteeism. This was the equivalent of 54 full-time people annually; and the total direct and indirect costs of work stress amounted to 11,880 days lost.

In the UK, Pathak (2008) estimated the costs to employers of all workplace injuries and work-related ill health in 2005/06 to be £2.9–3.6 billion. This was broken into the cost of sick pay which was £1.6–1.8 billion; compensation and insurance costs of around £1.3 billion; administrative costs of £29–32 million, and recruitment costs of £13 million. The cost of sick pay is the main and primary cost to employers of work-related ill health. Sickness absence in the UK is now at the lowest level compared to the previous 20 years, according to a CBI survey (CBI 2010). This is may be due to the recession and the fear among workers of losing their jobs. So while there may be significant savings to employers in the short term due to reduced costs of sick pay, the costs to the individual and society are likely to increase if employees facing job insecurity and other work stressors develop long-term health problems.

۲ ۲

### **REDUCING WORK STRESS**

A survey of managers and workers' representatives in the EU (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work 2010) found 79 per cent of European managers are concerned by work-related stress, but less than a third of companies have set procedures to deal with it. Management representatives consider it more difficult to tackle psychosocial risks compared with other health and safety issues. There is a clear need for better procedures to manage and reduce work-related stress.

Figure 15: Choosing a target for work stress intervention (adapted from Heaney and Ryn 1990).



There are two main approaches to mitigating stress in the workplace. The first and dominant approach, Stress Management Training, focuses on increasing a person's ability to deal with stress. The second approach focuses on the work environment, seeking to change stress-generating working conditions. Evidence relating to these approaches has been recently reviewed (Semmer 2008) and this section draws on evidence from that report.

A framework for differentiating between the two approaches is illustrated in Figure 15 (Heaney and Ryn 1990). The figure suggests that there can be different work interventions that target the work stressor, reduce exposure to the work stressor or target workplace buffers ("protective" support groups or practices for example). However, most organisations focus on the individual rather than the workplace. Kompier and Cooper (1999) suggest this is often because by targeting the individual, there is no explicit acknowledgement of managerial/ organisational responsibility. This approach focuses the "blame" of work stress on employee personality and lifestyle rather than employment factors.

#### 5.1. PERSON-FOCUSED INTERVENTIONS

Individual people vary in their stress responses to environmental stressors. People can appraise the same stressful environment differently and react to it in a different way. A number of stress management training interventions have been identified (Murphy 2003). These include:

- relaxation-focused interventions, focusing on breathing and muscle calming activities to release tension;
- meditation techniques on relaxing the mind while remaining completely attentive;
- biofeedback training to recognise muscle and skin reactivity;

- exercise leading to improvements in vitality and mood as well as increased resilience to stress;
- cognitive-behavioural skills training focusing on the specifics of the stress-generating situation, trying to alter its interpretation, and offering support in dealing with it (this may include attempts at eliminating the source of stress such as training in assertiveness, conflict resolution, problemsolving, time management (Quick et al. 1997) or anger management (Gerzina and Drummond 2000); and
- Employee Assistance Programmes for employees who are experiencing work related problems. These offer counselling, advice, and/or referral to specialist therapeutic treatment and support services.

The effects of stress management training have been reviewed by Giga, Noblet et al. (2003), Lamontagne et al. (2007) and Murphy (1996). Furthermore, meta-analyses have been reported by van der Klink et al. (2001). On average, stress management training produces moderate effects although these effects are very diverse and heterogeneous (Semmer 2008). Most studies report individual level outcomes, rather than outcomes at the organisational level (for example absenteeism). When organisational outcomes are assessed, they tend to be negligible (Giga, Noblet et al. 2003; Lamontagne et al. 2007).

### 5.2. WORKPLACE-FOCUSED INTERVENTIONS

Evidence on a number of workplace-focused interventions has been reviewed by Giga, Noblet et al. (2003), Kompier and Cooper (1999); Kompier et al. (2000); Lamontagne et al. (2007); Murphy and Sauter (2004); Parker et al. (1998); Parkes and Sparkes (1998); and Semmer (2003). These interventions can be grouped into three, not mutually exclusive, approaches, focusing on:

#### Task characteristics

These interventions improve simple and repetitive tasks, such as adding elements that increase responsibility. These elements could involve more employee involvement in planning, quality control, and maintenance through the development of selfdirected, semi-autonomous teams.

#### Working conditions

These interventions are about changes in workload and working time.

#### Social relationships at work

These interventions focus on improving social relationships at work by improving social support, conflict management and communication in general. Supervisors can be trained in improving role clarity, giving feedback, carrying out performance appraisal, resolving conflicts etc. (Giga, Cooper et al. 2003; Giga, Noblet et al. 2003; Lamontagne et al. 2007).

Many interventions combine all three approaches. Furthermore, person-focused interventions often are added. There are few studies with methodologically sound designs which make it hard to estimate their effects. Nevertheless, Semmer (2008) concludes that the results tend to be positive overall, but inconsistent. Variables that are immediately targeted by the intervention (e.g. job autonomy, role clarity) are most likely to change as a result of the intervention. However, these effects do not necessarily translate into improved health and wellbeing. Short-term changes in working conditions are more likely to occur than long-term health changes, although some work-related changes may take considerable time to show and, therefore, are not likely to be uncovered by the typical time
frames of evaluation studies (Giga, Noblet et al. 2003). The quality of the implementation of the workplace intervention is important. Lack of sustained management support for workplace interventions is one of the most cited obstacles to successful interventions.

Workplace-focused interventions tend to report results at the organisational level, such as sickness absence. Comprehensive approaches that include both stress management training and organisational interventions tend to yield positive outcomes for individuals as well as organisations (Giga, Noblet et al. 2003; Lamontagne et al. 2007; Semmer 2003). Employee participation, whether formal (e.g. trade unions) or informal (direct involvement of employees), is associated with better quality management of psychosocial risks at work (European Agency for Safety and Health at Work 2010).

#### 5.3. WORK STRESS AND THE LAW

The legal aspects of work stress have recently been reviewed (Cox et al. 2006). They point out that there is no legislation in place in the UK specifically on work stress (Pilkington et al 2001). However, under Section 2 of the Health and Safety at Work Act (1974), employers have a duty of care to protect the (physical and psychological) health, safety and welfare of their workforce, so far as is reasonably practicable. Furthermore, under The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations (1999), employers are required to make a suitable and sufficient assessment of the risks to health and safety to which staff are exposed while at work, including risks arising from stress in the workplace. The anti-discrimination statutes (such as the Protection from Harassment Act 1997, Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and the Equality Act 2010) are also potentially implicated in some cases of work stress. There are also legal obligations regarding work stress arising from the common law of contract and of torts.

Despite these protections, it is hard for claims for work stress to succeed, although the wide range of claims under the heading of "work stress" and the lack of detailed evidence on settlements makes it hard to produce statistics. For a case to succeed the employee must be able to prove that:

- The injury was foreseeable. The employer has to be made aware that an employee is experiencing health problems associated with stress at work. Once an employer is aware, they are put on notice for foreseeable risk of subsequent illness. So a case against an employer is unlikely to succeed if they have not been made aware of the employee's work stress.
- A breach occurred in the duty of care. Employers must act reasonably to provide a safe system of work and take reasonable steps to protect their employees from the risks to their safety and health that are reasonably foreseeable. This rule is difficult to establish in work-related stress claims (Barrett 1998; Messham 1995) as the court must examine what constitutes a reasonable response by the employer. This requires weighing up the risks of (psychiatric) harm and injury arising from the work stressors against the cost and practicability of preventing that risk.
- The psychological or physiological injury was caused by that breach. This is probably the hardest to establish. The burden is upon the claimant to prove that the employer's breach of duty either caused the injury or increased the risk of injury. Establishing causation in injury is extremely complex, especially because the aetiology of stress-related illness is multi-factorial (Jamdar and Byford 2003).

There has been some discussion about the extent to which work-related stress should be regulated through legislation (HSC 1999). However, this discussion was abandoned in favour of a voluntary Approved Code of Practice, which resulted in the Management Standards to guide employers in relation to work stress that have discussed in section 1.2 (Mackay et al 2004; Cousins et al 2004).

GP and other healthcare professionals' statements of "Fitness for Work" (or "fit notes") replaced employee sick notes on 6th April 2010. These fit notes introduced a new option for healthcare professionals: "May be fit for work taking account of the following advice". The notes provide space for comments by the GP or other clinicians to help with the employee's return to work where they could suggest things such as altered hours or avoiding certain activities that could help their return to work (http://www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/fitnote-gp-guide.pdf). In one of the Department of Work and Pensions case studies, a fit note for an employee with work stress could contain suggestions such as for the employee to avoid customer-facing duties; and also to consider creating a support network at work. However it is possible that healthcare professionals may not feel confident in suggesting such specific advice without adequate guidance and training on work stress interventions.

The fit note is not legally binding and cannot compel employers to implement measures. Crucially, any advice on a fit note is advice from the healthcare professional to the employee, not to the employer. Changes to an employee's role or hours will have to be agreed between employers and employees and cannot be imposed by the GP or clinician. However, employers may be vulnerable to legal claims if they do not respond promptly and fully to the suggestions contained within the note (Proactive 2010) as it may close off arguments that the negative health consequences of work arrangements were unforeseeable. It remains to be seen whether the courts regard non-binding advice on a fit note by a healthcare professional as a trigger for employers to take action, as the legal status of fit notes is yet to be tested before employment tribunals and courts.

Under the European Framework Directive 89/391 on health and safety at work, all employers have a legal obligation to protect the occupational safety and health of workers; this includes problems of work-related stress insofar as they entail a risk to health and safety. Many countries already have legislation concerning the organisation of work and working conditions. However, few explicitly mention work-related stress. For example, The Norwegian Working Environment Act does not make any particular reference to work-related stress, but it makes a number of provisions on how the working place and the working environment should be organized. In Belgium, the Royal Decree of May 2007 obliges every employer to analyse and identify all situations which might entail a psychosocial burden. Aspects such as work content, working conditions and work relationships must thereby be taken into consideration. However, despite such legislation, in practice few companies have implemented stress diagnosis practices (http://www. eurofound.europa.eu/ewco/2010/01/BE1001019I.htm).

Figure 11 showed that workers in some European countries have lower work stressors in terms of low job demands and high job control (such as the Netherlands, Luxembourg and Belgium), and also in terms of having high job control and high job demands (such as Norway, Denmark and Finland). However, it is not clear whether legislation on work stress and/ or enforcement of this legislation explain why workers in these countries have lower levels of work stressors.

Against the background of several suicides of workers in the French car industry, there has been a multi-industry agreement on stress at work since 2008 between the five main trade union confederations in France and the three representative employer organisations. The French multi-industry agreement on stress at work now adds more detail to the 2004 European framework agreement on work-related stress.

# CONCLUDING REMARKS

### 6.1. FUTURE PRIORITY AREAS

Work stress will probably increase as a result of the continuing effects of the 2008–09 recession. Trends in work stressors and the health and economic consequences of work stress need to be closely monitored. While there is some evidence from the CIPD employee outlook surveys on the effects of the recession on work stress, the latest data from Health and Safety Executive's 2010 Psychosocial Working Conditions survey could be analysed to verify if there has been an increase in the levels of work stressors reported by employees. Furthermore, any changes in the position of British workers in relation to other European countries should be analysed from the latest (2010) European Working Conditions Survey.

Budget cuts in government spending as a result of the recession will increase job losses in the short run, and work stressors over a longer period. Public sector workers are being told to anticipate significant job losses in their sector. Evidence from this report suggests that public sector workers have already experienced the steepest increase in work stressors during the last recession. This group could therefore be especially vulnerable to cuts in government spending. Any adverse changes to their psychosocial working conditions should be monitored.

This report has shown that the health consequences of stress at work range from mental health to cardiovascular and workplace injuries, all of which result in sickness absence. These health effects of work stress have economic costs, for individuals, employers and society. With work stress increasing as a result of the recession, the economic costs and health effects of work stress also need to be monitored. There is little evidence that the management standards on work stress (and related agreed code of practice) introduced by the Health and Safety Executive in 2004 has reduced work stressors so far. Given the tougher economic environment after the 2008–09 recession, it is possible that these management standards may not be widely used or may become even less effective at reducing work stress. The appropriateness of relying on the Management Standards approach to reduce work stress may need to be re-evaluated in the context of increasing work stress after the recession. The contribution of specific legislation on work stress and/or enforcement of this legislation to lower work stress in some European countries also needs to be investigated.

The introduction of "fit notes" may require additional training for health care professionals on suggesting appropriate work stress interventions for patients reporting work stress. The potential use of such fit notes in legal claims on work stress may act as a trigger for employers to take more action on reducing stress in the workplace.

The difficulty in establishing legal claims in relation to work stress may be partly due to the lack of causal evidence linking work stress to specific health problems. Given the multifactorial aetiology of most chronic health problems, it is hard for any claimant to argue that their specific work stressor led to their health problem independently of any other risk factor. Better causal evidence that links specific work stressors to specific health problems needs to be developed.

#### 6.2. OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

The 2008–09 recession has already resulted in increased levels of psychosocial work stressors in Britain. There has been an increase in job insecurity, work intensity and inter-personal conflict at work. Job insecurity among public sector workers has doubled since 2009. Public sector workers also report a greater increase in (and higher levels of) work intensity, inter-personal work conflict, bullying by managers and work hours compared to private sector workers since 2009. With cuts in government spending in the Emergency Budget 2010 directly affecting public sector employment, levels of work stress could increase even more among public sector workers. Any estimated cost savings from budget cuts arising from the recession need to be balanced against the economic costs of work stress.

Work stress has been increasing in Britain since 1992. The increase in work stress is particularly marked for women. Furthermore, there was an increase of around 4–6 percentage points in most measures of work stressors in the one-year period from spring 2009 to spring 2010. In comparison, the increase in job strain from 1992 to 2006 was around 0.5–1.0% per year. This suggests that work stressors in Britain have increased markedly since 2009.

Work stressors are associated with a wide range of health outcomes, including depression and anxiety disorders, suicide, workplace injuries and accidents, and cardiovascular risk. This results in sickness absence for employees with work stress. However, the recession could have ambiguous effects on sickness absence. During recessions, people may become afraid of losing their jobs and so may become reluctant to take sickness absence leave even when they are ill. Sickness absence rates have decreased since the last recession. Recessions could increase the phenomenon of presenteeism. If employees who are ill are not able to rest and recover, this will be costly to their health in the long run, which in turn will have economic costs for themselves, their employers and society.

The economic costs of work stress to society have been estimated to lie between 0.5% and 1.2% of UK GDP. The costs to employers are much smaller than the costs to individuals and to society. The cost of sick pay is the main and primary cost to employers of work-related ill health. However, during recessions, sickness absence may fall and presenteeism could increase despite an increase in work stress. So while there may be significant savings to employers in the short term due to reduced costs of sick pay, the costs to the individual and society are likely to increase if presenteeism increases and employees develop long-term health problems.

There is no legislation in the UK specifically on work stress. There is a voluntary approved code of practice (the Health and Safety Management Standards) that is meant to guide employers in matters of work stress. Since the Management Standards came into being in 2004, there has been little decline in work stressors in Britain, and some evidence that work stressors have actually increased since 2009.

It is difficult for legal claims in relation to work stress claims succeed, partly because courts may be reluctant to attribute the cause of someone's psychological or physical injury to workrelated factors. The introduction of "fit notes" to replace "sick notes" from healthcare professionals may increase the potential success of work stress claims if they are used in the legal process. These fit notes may also act as a trigger for employers to take more action on reducing stress in the workplace. However, these notes would require additional training for healthcare professionals on suggesting appropriate work stress interventions for patients with work stress.

Work stress has increased since the last recession. The burden of the recession on work stress will not only fall on current workers, but will also be experienced by future workers unless appropriate actions to measure, monitor and mitigate against work stress are introduced.

# REFERENCES

Aiken LH, Clarke SP, Sloane DM, Sochalski J and Silber JH (2002) Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction. Journal of the American Medical Association 288, pp. 1987–1993.

Akerstedt T (2006) Psychosocial stress and impaired sleep. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment and Health*. 2006 Dec;32(6):493–501.

Ala-Mursula L, Vahtera J, Linna A, Pentti J and Kivimäki M (2005) Employee worktime control moderates the effects of job strain and effort-reward imbalance on sickness absence: the 10-town study. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 59 (2005), pp. 851–857.

Allen T (2001) Family-supportive work environments: the role of organizational perceptions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 58:414–435.

Amagasa T, Nakayama T, Takahashi Y (2005) Karojisatsu in Japan: characteristics of 22 cases of work-related suicide. *Journal of Occupational Health* 2005; 47(2):157–64.

Anderson S, Coffey B and Byerly R (2002) Formal organizational initiatives and informal workplace practices: links to work–family conflict and job–related outcomes. *Journal of Management*, 28:787–810.

Baltes BB, Briggs TE, Huff JW, Wright JA and Neuman GA (1999) Flexible and compressed workweek schedules: A meta-analysis of their effects on work-related criteria. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84, 496–513.

Béjean S and Sultan Taïeb H (2005) Modeling the economic burden of diseases imputable to stress at work. *European Journal of Health Economics*, Mar; 6(1):16–23.

- Benach J and Muntaner C (2007) Precarious employment and health: developing a research agenda. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*. 2007 Apr;61(4):276–7.
- Bongers P, Kremer AM, and ter Laak J (2002) Are psychosocial factors, risk factors for symptoms and signs of the shoulder, elbow or hand/ wrist? A review of the epidemiological literature. American Journal of Industrial Medicine 2002 41:315–342.

- Barrett B (1998) When should there be liability for negligently causing psychiatric illness? *Work & Stress*, 12, 101–111.
- Brun JP, Biron C, Martel J and Ivers H (2003) Évaluation de la santé mentale au travail: Une analyse des pratiques de gestion des ressources humaines (Études et recherches/Rapport No. R-342). Québec, Canada: Institut de recherche Robert-Sauvé en santé et en sécurité du travail.
- Brun JP and Lamarche C (2006) Assessing the Costs of Work Stress (Research Report). Québec: Laval University. CBI. 2003.
- Brunner EJ, Chandola T and Marmot MG (2007) Prospective Effect of Job Strain on General and Central Obesity in the Whitehall II Study. American Journal of Epidemiology; 165(7): 828–837.
- CBI (2008) Sickies and long-term absence give employers a headache- CBI/AXA Survey http://www.cbi.org.uk/ndbs/press. nsf/0363c1f07c6ca12a8025671c00381cc7/90ab71d2f4d981da802 5744200523b87?OpenDocument Posted: 14/05/2008. Accessed: 20/06/2010.
- CBI (2010) On the path to recovery: Absence and workplace health survey 2010. London: Pfizer. www.cbi.org.uk.
- Chandola T, Brunner E and Marmot M (2006) Chronic stress at work and the metabolic syndrome: prospective study. *British Medical Journal*, 332: 521–525.
- Chandola T, Britton A, Brunner E, Hemingway H, Malik M, Kumari M, Badrick E, Kivimaki M and Marmot M (2008) Work stress and coronary heart disease: what are the mechanisms? *European Heart Journal*, 29(5):640–648.
- Chandola T, Heraclides A, Kumari M (2010) Psychophysiological biomarkers of workplace stressors. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*. Epub.
- Chandola T and Marmot M (in press) Socioeconomic Status and Stress. In Baum A and Contrada R (eds) *Handbook of Stress Science*. Springer.
- CIPD (2006) Absence Management. Annual survey report 2006. CIPD, London.

- CIPD (2010A) Employee outlook: Recovery yet to reach the workplace. Quarterly survey report, Spring 2010. Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development, London http://www.cipd. co.uk/subjects/empreltns/general/\_employee\_outlook.htm
- CIPD (2010B) Employee outlook: Emerging from the downturn? Quarterly survey report, Winter 2009. Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development, London http://www.cipd.co.uk/ subjects/empreltns/general/\_employee\_outlook.htm
- CIPD (2009A) Employee outlook: Working Life in a recession. Quarterly survey report, Autumn 2009. Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development, London http://www.cipd.co.uk/ subjects/empreltns/general/\_employee\_outlook.htm
- CIPD (2009B) Employee outlook: Job seeking in a recession. Quarterly survey report, Summer 2009. Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development, London http://www.cipd.co.uk/subjects/empreltns/ general/\_employee\_outlook.htm
- CIPD (2009C) Employee outlook: employee attitudes and the recession. Quarterly survey report Spring 2009. Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development, London http://www.cipd.co.uk/ subjects/empreltns/general/\_employee\_outlook.htm
- CLR News (2009) Irish construction industry from sending to receiving to... CLR News 4/2009; http://www.clr-news. org/CLR-News/CLR%20News%204-2009.pdf accessed 20/06/2010.
- Cooper CL, Liukkonen P and Cartwright S (1996) The Problem of Workplace Stress. In Stress Prevention in the Workplace: Assessing the Costs and Benefits to Organisations. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1–10.
- Cooper CL (2006). The changing nature of work: The new psychological contract and associated stressors. In Rossi AM, Perrewe PL and Sauter SL (eds) *Stress and the Quality of Work Life*, 1–7. San Paolo, Brazil: Editoria Atlas S.A.
- Cooper CL, Goswami U, Sahakian BJ (2009) *Mental Capital and Wellbeing*.Ox ford, Wiley-Blackwell.

- Cousins R, Mackay, CJ, Clarke SD, Kelly C, Kelly PJ and McCaig RH (2004) "Management Standards" and work-related stress in the UK: Practical development. *Work & Stress*, 2004, 18, 113–136.
- Cox T, Griffiths A, Houdmont J (2006) *Defining a Case of Work-related Stress: HSE Research Report 449.* Sudbury: HSE Books.
- Coyne, I., Smith Lee Chong, P., Seigne, E. & Randall, P. (2003) Self and peer nominations of bullying: An analysis of incident rates, individual differences and perceptions of the working environment. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology* Vol 12, No.3.
- Dalton D and Mesch D (1990) The impact of flexible scheduling on employee attendance and turnover. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 35:370–387.
- Dembe AE, Erickson JB, Delbos RG and Banks SM (2005) The impact of overtime and long work hours on occupational injuries and illnesses: new evidence from the United States. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 62, 588–97.
- Dewe P and Kompier M (2008) Foresight Mental Capital and Wellbeing Project. Wellbeing and work: Future challenges. The Government Office for Science, London.
- Eby L, Casper W, Lockwood A, Bordeaux C and Brinely A (2005) Work and family research in IO/OB: Content analysis and review of the literature (1980–2002). *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 66:124–197.
- Elfering A, Semmer NK, Grebner S (2006) Work stress and patient safety: observer-rated work stressors as predictors of characteristics of safety-related events reported by young nurses. *Ergonomics* 2006; 49(5–6): 457–69.
- Eller NH, Netterstrom B, Gyntelberg F, Kristensen TS, Nielsen F, Steptoe A and Theorell T (2009) Work-related psychosocial factors and the development of ischemic heart disease: a systematic review. *Cardiology in Review* 17, 83–97.
- EMCONET (2007) Employment Conditions Knowledge Network (EMCONET) Final Report to the WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health (CSDH). Chairs: Joan Benach, Carles Muntaner,Vilma Santana. Posted: 20/09/2007. http://www.who.

int/social\_determinants/resources/articles/emconet\_who\_report. pdf Accessed 20/06/2010.

European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2010) ESENER – European Survey of Enterprises on New and Emerging Risks. Posted: 02/06/2010. Accessed: 02/07/2010.

EU-OSHA (2007) Expert Forecast on Emerging Psychosocial Risks Related to Occupational Safety and Health. European Risk Observatory Report. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.

Fauth R and McVerry A (2008) Can "good work" keep employees healthy? Evidence from across the EU. London, The Work Foundation.

Fenwick R and Tausig M (1994) The macroeconomic context of job stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 1994; 35:266–282.

Gallie D, White M and Policy Studies Institute (2006) Employment in Britain, 1992 [computer file]. Colchester, Essex: UK Data Archive [distributor], June 2006. SN: 5368.

Gallie D, Felstead A and Green F (2004) Changing patterns of task discretion in Britain. Work, Employment and Society, 18(2): 243–266.

Gallie D, Zhou Y, Felstead A and Green F (in press) Teamwork, Skill Development and Employee Welfare. *British Journal of Industrial Relations*.

Gerzina MA and Drummond PD (2000) A multimodal cognitivebehavioural approach to anger reduction in an occupational sample. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 73:181–194.

Giga SI, Noblet AJ, Faragher B and Cooper CL (2003) The UK perspective: a review of research on organisational stress management interventions. *Australian Psychologist*, 38:158–164.

Giga SI, Dr Jain AK and Cooper CL (2008) State-of-Science Review: SR-C7 Working Longer: Hours of Work and Health. In *Mental Capital and Wellbeing: Making the most of ourselves in the 21st century, a review for the UK Government's Foresight Mental Capital and Wellbeing Project.* London: The Government Office for Science.

- Green F (2004) Why Has Work Effort Become More Intense? *Industrial Relations*, 43, 4, October 2004: 709-741.
- Green F (2009) Job Quality in Britain, Praxis 1, Wath-upon-Dearne: UKCES. http://www.ukces.org.uk/upload/pdf/A5%20Job%20 Quality%20in%20Britain%20v6.pdf Posted: 11/2009. Accessed 27/06/2010.
- Hansson RO, Robson SM and Limas MJ (2001) Stress and coping among older workers. Work: A Journal of Prevention, Assessment & Rehabilitation, 17: 247–256.
- Harkness AMB, Long BC, Bermbach N, Patterson K, Jordan S and Kahn H (2005) Talking about work stress: Discourse analysis and implications for implications for stress interventions. *Work & Stress*, 19, 2, April–June 2005: 121–136.
- Heaney CA and Van Ryn, M (1990) Broadening the scope of worksite stress programs: A guiding framework. *American Journal of Health Promotion.* 4(6), Jul–Aug 1990: 413–420.
- Hemp P (2004) Presenteeism: At work but out of it. Harvard Business Review, 82(10): 49–58.
- Hooker H, Neathey F, Casebourne J and Munro M (2007) The Third Work–life Balance Employee Survey: Main findings. Employment Relations Research Series No. 58, March 2007. London: BERR.
- HSC (1999) Health & Safety Commission: Managing Stress at Work. HSE Books: Sudbury.
- HSE (1999) The costs to Britain of workplace accidents and workrelated ill health in 1995/96. HSE Books http://www.hse.gov.uk/ pubns/priced/hsg101.pdf.
- HSE (2009) Health and safety Statistics 2008/09. HSE/ONS. www.hse. gov.uk/statistics.
- Jamdar S and Byford J (2003) *Workplace Stress: Law and Practice*. London: The Law Society.
- Judiesch MK and Lyness KS (1999) Left behind? The impact of leaves of absence on managers' career success. *Academy of Management Journal*, 42: 641–651.

- Karasek R and Theorell T (1990) *Healthy work: stress, productivity, and the reconstruction of working life.* Basic Books: New York.
- Kivimäki M, Vahtera J, Pentti J and Ferrie JE (2000) Factors underlying the effect of organisational downsizing on health of employees: longitudinal cohort study. British Medical Journal. Apr 8;320(7240): 971–5.
- Kivimaki M, Virtanen M, Elovainio M, Kouvonen A, Vaananen A and Vahtera J (2006) Work stress in the etiology of coronary heart disease – a meta-analysis. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health 32, 431–442.
- Kompier M and Cooper C (eds) (1999) *Preventing stress, improving* productivity. European case studies in the workplace. London: Routledge.
- Kompier MAJ, Cooper CL and Geurts SAE (2000) A multiple case study approach to work stress prevention in Europe. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 9: 371–400.
- Kompier M (2006) New systems of work organization and workers' health. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health, 32:421-430.
- Koningsveld EAP, Zwinkels W, Mossink JCM, Thie X and Abspoel M (2001) National costs of working conditions for workers in the Netherlands 2001 (in Dutch Maatschappelijke kosten van arbeidsomstandigheden van werknemers in 2001), Werkdocument 203, Ministry of Social Affairs and Employment, 2003. The Netherlands, The H ague.
- Lamontagne AD, Keegel T, Louie AM, Ostry A and Landsbergis PA (2007) A systematic review of the job-stress intervention evaluation literature, 1990–2005. *International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 13:268–280.
- Landsbergis PA, Cahill J and Schnall P (1999) The impact of lean production and related new systems of work organization on worker health. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 1999 Apr,4 (2):108–30.
- Lewis G, and Sloggett A (1998) Suicide, deprivation, and unemployment: record linkage study *British Medical Journal* 1998, 317: 1283–6.

Mackay CJ, Cousins R, Kelly PJ, Lee S and McCaig RH (2004)
"Management Standards" and work-related stress in the UK: Policy background and science. *Work & Stress* 18; 2, 91–112.

Marmot MG, Davey Smith G, Stansfield S et al. (1991) Health Inequalities among British civil servants: the Whitehall II study. *Lancet* 337:1387–1393.

Messham J (1995) A flood of claims? Solicitors' Journal, 28 July:738.

MIND (2010) Workers turn to antidepressants as recession takes its toll. Posted: Monday 17 May 2010. http://www.mind.org.uk/ news/3372\_workers\_turn\_to\_antidepressants\_as\_recession\_takes\_ its\_toll Accessed: 20 June 2010.

- Murphy LR (1996) Stress management in work settings: A critical review of the health effects. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 11:112–135.
- Murphy LR (2003) Stress management at work: Secondary prevention of stress. In MJ Schabracq, JA Winnubst and CL Cooper (eds) *Handbook of Work and Health Psychology* (2nd ed., pp.533–548). Chichester: Wiley.

Murphy LR and Sauter SL (2004). Work organization interventions: State of knowledge and future directions. Social and Preventive Medicine, 49:79–86.

Office for National Statistics (2010A) Quarterly Labour Force Survey, January – March, 2010 [computer file]. Colchester, Essex: UK Data Archive [distributor], June 2010. SN: 6457.

Office for National Statistics (2010B) Labour Market Statistics July 2010. http://www.statistics.gov.uk/pdfdir/lmsuk0710.pdf Posted: 14 July 2010. Accessed: 26 July 2010

Packham C and Webster S (2009) *Psychosocial Working Conditions in Britain in 2009*, Health and Safety Executive.

Parent-Thirion A, Macías EF, Hurley J and Vermeyle G (2007) Fourth European Working Conditions Survey. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, Dublin.

Parker SK, Jackson PR, Sprigg CA and Whybrow AC (1998) Organisational interventions to reduce the impact of poor work design (HSE Contract Research Report 196/1998). Colegate, Norwich: Her Majesty's Stationery Office.

- Parkes KR and Sparkes TI (1998) Organizational interventions to reduce work stress: Are they effective? HSE Contract Research Report 193/1998. Colegate, Norwich: Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
- Pathak M (2008) "The costs to employers in Britain of workplace injuries and work-related ill health in 2005/06", HSE Discussion Paper Series, No. 002, September 2008.
- Peck J and Theodore N (2007) Flexible Recession: The Temporary Staffing Industry and Mediated Work in the USA, *Cambridge Journal* of *Economics* 31(2): 171–192.
- Pilkington A, Mulholland RE, Cowie HA, Graham MK and Hutchinson PA (2001) Baseline measurement for the evaluation of the work-related stress campaign, Health & Safety Executive, Sudbury: HSE Books.
- Platt S (1984) Unemployment and suicidal behaviour a review of the literature. *Social Science and Medicine* 1984;19:93–115.
- Proactive (2010) How will the GP "fit note" affect the management of workplace stress? http://www.proactivegroup.co.uk/ index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=58:howwill-the-gp-fit-note-affect-the-management-of-workplacestress&catid=1:news&Itemid=31 Accessed 27/06/10.
- Quick JC, Quick JD, Nelson DL and Hurrell JJ (eds) (1997) Preventive stress management in organizations. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Quinlan M and Bohle P (2009) Over-stretched and Unreciprocated Commitment: Reviewing research on the OHS effects of downsizing and job insecurity. *International Journal of Health Services* 39 (2009): 1–44.
- Rick J, Briner RB, Daniels K, Perryman S and Guppy A (2001) A critical review of psychosocial hazard measures. The Institute for Employment Studies for the Health and Safety Executive, HSE Books 2001.

- Roelen CA, Koopmans PC and Groothoff JW (2009) Occupational rewards relate to sickness absence frequency but not duration. *Work* 2009; 34(1):13–9.
- Salin D (2003) Ways of explaining workplace bullying: a review of enabling, motivating and precipitating structures and processes in the work environment. *Human Relations* 56 (10): 1213–32.
- Salminen S, Oksanen T, Vahtera J, Sallinen M, Härmä M, Salo P, Virtanen M and Kivimäki M (2009) Sleep disturbances as a predictor of occupational injuries among public sector workers. Journal of Sleep Research. Oct 14.
- Semmer NK (2003) Job stress interventions and organization of work. In Tetrick LE and Quick JC (eds), *Handbook of occupational health psychology*:325–353). Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Semmer NK (2008) Stress Management and Wellbeing Interventions in the Workplace in Mental Capital and Wellbeing: Making the most of ourselves in the 21st century State-of-Science Review: SR-C6. http://www.foresight.gov.uk/Mental%20Capital/SR-C6\_MCW. pdf Accessed:29/06/10.
- Scandura T and Lankau M (1997) Relationship of gender, family responsibility and flexible working hours to organizational commitment and job satisfaction. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 18:377–391.
- Siegrist J (1998) Reciprocity in basic social exchange and health: can we reconcile person-based with population-based psychosomatic research? *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 45, 99–105.

Stansfeld SA, Woodley-Jones D, Rasul F, Head J, Clarke S and Mackay C (2004) Work-related stress and related disorders. Occupational Health Decennial Supplement. Health and Safety Executive, Research Centre for Psychiatry, Barts and The London, Queen Mary's School of Medicine and Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London.

Stansfeld S and Candy B (2006) Psychosocial work environment and mental health – a meta-analytic review. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health 32(6, special issue):443–462.

- Thompson CA, Beauvais LL and Lyness KS (1999) When work–family benefits are not enough: the influence of work–family culture on benefit utilization, organizational attachment, and work–family conflict. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 54:392–415.
- Tsutsumi A, Kayaba K, Ojima T, Ishikawa S, Kawakami N (2007) Low control at work and the risk of suicide in Japanese men: a prospective cohort study. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics* 2007; 76(3):177–85.
- Usdaw (2007) Freedom from Fear Campaign. Union of Shop Distributive and Allied Workers. http://www.usdaw.org.uk/ campaigns/freedom\_from\_fear Accessed 20/06/2010.
- Vahtera J, Kivimäki M, Pentti J and Theorell T (2000) Effect of change in the psychosocial work environment on sickness absence: a sevenyear follow up of initially healthy employees. *Journal of Epidemiology* and Community Health 2000 Jul;54(7):484–93. 2007;76(3):177–85.
- Vahtera J, Kivimaki M, Pentti J, Linna A, Virtanen M, Virtanen P and Ferrie JE (2004) Organisational downsizing, sickness absence, and mortality: 10-town prospective cohort study. *British Medical Journal*. Mar 6;328(7439):555. Epub 2004 Feb 23.
- van der Klink JJL, Blonk RWB, Schene AH and van Dijk FJH (2001) The benefits of interventions for work-related stress. *American Journal of Public Health* 91:270–276.
- Virtanen M, Vahtera J, Pentti J, et al. (2007) Job strain and Psychological distress: Influence on sickness absence among Finnish employees. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine* 2007 Sep;33(3):182–7.
- Weiser S and Cedraschi C (1992) Psychosocial issues in the prevention of chronic low back pain-a literature review, *Bailliere's Clinical Rheumatology*, 6:657–684.
- Westerlund H, Ferrie JE, Hagberg J, Jeding K, Oxenstierna G and Theorell T (2004) Workplace expansion, long-term sickness absence, and hospital admission. *Lancet.* Apr 10;363(9416):1193–7.
- Wilkins K and MacKenzie SG (2007) Work injuries. *Health Reports* 18(3):25–42.
- Woo JM and Postolache TT (2008) The impact of work environment on mood disorders and suicide: Evidence and implications.

International Journal on Disability and Human Development 2008, 7:185–200.

Work Life Balance Centre (2010) Research shows impact of recession on absence and work patterns. Posted: 05/10/2009; http://www. changeboard.com/resources/article/1820/research-shows-impactof-recession-on-absence-and-work-patterns/ Accessed 20/06/2010.

## ABOUT THE AUTHOR AND THE MEMBERS OF THE STEERING GROUP

**Tarani Chandola** is Professor of Medical Sociology at the University of Manchester. He joined the School of Social Sciences in April 2010 and was formerly at the UCL Research Department of Epidemiology and Public Health. His research is primarily on the social determinants of health, focusing on health inequalities and psychosocial factors, and the analysis of longitudinal cohort studies. He is the meetings secretary of the Social Statistics committee at the Royal Statistical Society, and a co-director of Methods@Manchester. His work is supported by an ESRC Pathfinders project on urbanisation and spatial inequalities in health, the ESRC International Centre for Lifecourse Studies in Society and Health, and the MRC funded Whitehall II study.

Duncan Gallie has been Official Fellow at Nuffield College, Oxford since 1985 and Professor of Sociology since 1996. He has been Vice President of the British Academy since 2004 having previously been a Fellow and Council Member. His research co-ordination includes the ESRC Social Change and Economic Life Initiative (1985-1990); Employment in Britain Survey (1991-1995); DGV Processes of Detachment from the Labour Market (1992-1994); DGXII Employment Conditions, Labour Market Insecurity and Work Motivation (Britain, Bulgaria, Czech Republic and Slovakia) (1994-1996); DGXII Employment Precarity, Unemployment and Social Exclusion (8 country research programme) (1996-1999) and DG Research Cluster 'Unemployment, Work and Welfare' (2000-2002). He has served as a Member of the Advisory Committee of the ESRC Research Centre on Micro-Social Change (MISOC); the ESRC's Future of Work Initiative and was a Member of

the EU's Advisory Group for the Sixth Framework Programme on 'Social Sciences and Humanities in the European Research Area'.

**Paul Edwards** is Professor of Industrial Relations at Warwick Business School and associate editor of 'Human Relations'. He was formerly the Deputy Director and Director of IRRU and editor of 'Work, Employment and Society'. He was elected a Fellow of the British Academy 1998 and Academician of the Academy of Social Sciences 2008. Paul was Chair of the British Academy's Social Science Group 2006-10. He has conducted research for bodies including the Department of Trade and Industry and the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development. He was a Senior Fellow, Advanced Institute of Management Research 2004-7. His research interests include new forms of work organisation and their implications for employees and for efficiency; comparative workplace employee relations; employee relations in small firms, including the effects of employment legislation; and personnel practice in MNCs.

Kathy Parkes is Reader in Applied Psychology at the University of Oxford, and an adjunct Professor in the School of Psychology, University of Western Australia (UWA). Her research is primarily concerned with work-related stress, and includes studies carried out with healthcare professionals, teachers and civil servants. Most recently, she has been responsible for a wide-ranging programme of human factors and psychosocial research in the UK oil and gas industry. The research, funded by the UK Health and Safety Executive, has focused mainly on stress and health among personnel working on North Sea installations. Shift rotation, work/leave schedules, and working hours more generally, are major areas of current interest. Using experimental methods, the research has addressed specific issues associated with day/night shift rotation in the offshore environment, including effects on sleep, cognitive performance, fatigue and subjective alertness. This approach has been complemented by large-scale survey studies, in both offshore and onshore settings, in which psychosocial work conditions and objective work factors have been assessed in relation to a range of health and safety outcomes. While at UWA, Kathy has become interested in psychosocial aspects of shift work in remote mines, in addition to developing contacts with the WA oil/gas industry.

## BRITISH ACADEMY POLICY PUBLICATIONS

Happy families? History and Family Policy, a British Academy Report, October 2010

Drawing a New Constituency Map for the United Kingdom, a British Academy Report, September 2010

*Choosing an Electoral System*, a British Academy Report, March 2010

Social Science and Family Policies, a British Academy Report, February 2010

Language Matters, a Position Paper by the British Academy, June 2009

Punching Our Weight: the humanities and social sciences in public policy making, a British Academy Report, September 2008

Joint Guidelines on Copyright and Academic Research-Guidelines for researchers and publishers in the Humanities and Social Sciences, published jointly by the British Academy and Publishers Association,April 2008

*Peer Review: the challenges for the humanities and social sciences,* a British Academy Report, September 2007

*Copyright and Research in the Humanities and Social Sciences*, a British Academy Report, September 2006

The British Academy, established by Royal Charter in 1902, champions and supports the humanities and social sciences. It aims to inspire, recognise and support excellence and high achievement across the UK and internationally. The British Academy is a Fellowship of over 900 UK scholars and social scientists elected for their distinction in research. The Academy's work on policy is supported by its Policy Centre, which draws on funding from ESRC and AHRC. The Policy Centre overseas a programme of activity engaging the expertise within the humanities and social science to shed light on policy issues. All outputs from the British Academy Policy Centre go through a rigorous peer review process to ensure that they are of the highest quality. Views expressed in reports are not necessarily shared by each individual Fellow.



CENTRE

Stress caused by work has been increasing in Britain since 1992. The 2008-09 recession has increased work stressors including job insecurity, work intensity, and inter-personal conflict; and cuts in government spending will undoubtedly heighten these levels of work stress, particularly in the public sector. This report outlines not only the trends and determinants of work stress, but the serious costs of it to health, employers, the economy, and to society. It considers existing evidence on these various costs, outlining future priority areas. The report is directed not only at policymakers, but aims to both inform and caution employers and employees in all sectors and industries of the dangers of stress at work.

### SPONSORED BY



### ISBN: 978-0-85672-589-0

10-11 Carlton House Terrace London SW1Y 5AH Telephone: +44 (0)207 969 5200 Fax: +44 (0)207 969 5300 Registered Charity: Number 233176